No. 47726-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

CLABON TERREL BERNIARD,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 10-1-01904-1 The Honorable Thomas Larkin, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. SUMMARY OF THE CASE

On April 28, 2010, four people committed a home-invasion robbery at the home of James and Charlene Sanders. A man and woman pretending to be interested in purchasing a ring James Sanders advertised for sale on Craigslist, held James and Charlene at gunpoint as they lay on the kitchen floor. Two other people wearing bandanas over their faces also entered the home, went upstairs, and brought the couple's two children downstairs. One of the masked men kicked Charlene Sanders in the head and threatened her with a gun. During a subsequent scuffle, the couples' older child was hit in the head with a gun, and James Sanders was shot and killed. Following a trial, Clabon Berniard was convicted as an accomplice to felony murder, two counts of robbery, two counts of assault, and burglary, and was sentenced to an exceptional sentence based on the jury's finding that the group used deliberate cruelty and a high degree of sophistication and planning to commit the crimes. Berniard's first appeal resulted in his convictions being reversed and his case remanded for a new trial. Berniard was convicted of the same crimes and aggravators at his second trial, but only after the trial court committed a number of evidentiary, instructional, and sentencing errors.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in denying Clabon Berniard's motion to suppress evidence obtained pursuant to a defective warrant.
- 2. The trial court erred in granting the State's request to introduce statements inculpating Clabon Berniard under the co-conspirator exception to the hearsay rule.
- The trial court erred in denying Clabon Berniard's motion to suppress evidence obtained in violation of Washington's Privacy Act.
- 4. The prejudicial impact of the evidentiary errors, individually or cumulatively, denied Clabon Berniard a fair trial.
- 5. The trial court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence.
- 6. The State presented insufficient evidence that Clabon Berniard manifested "deliberate cruelty" in the commission of counts two thru six.
- 7. The State presented insufficient evidence that Clabon Berniard engaged in a high degree of "sophistication or planning" in the commission of counts two, four, five and six.
- 8. The aggravating factors applied in this case are unconstitutionally vague.
- 9. The trial court erred and violated the Federal and State

constitutions by providing a jury instruction and special verdict forms that allowed the jury to return verdicts of "yes" but not "no".

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The parties and trial court all agreed that the warrant used to obtain cellular telephone records of the participants in the robbery was defective. Issue waiver and issue preservation rules are designed to encourage judicial efficiency at trial and on appeal. And the purpose of Washington's nearly categorical exclusionary rule is to protect an individual's right of privacy. Therefore, did the trial court err in denying Clabon Berniard's pretrial motion to suppress the cellular telephone records on the grounds that he had waived his right to suppression by not raising the issue in his first trial and out of "fairness" to the State? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. A statement by a co-conspirator during the course and in furtherance of a conspiracy is not hearsay and is admissible at trial against a defendant. Once the criminal objectives of a conspiracy have been achieved, the conspiracy is over. And statements simply recounting past events with no intent to further the goals of the conspiracy do not qualify under

this exception. Therefore, did the trial court err in granting the State's request to introduce statements inculpating Clabon Berniard under the co-conspirator exception to the hearsay rules, where the statements were merely a confession made by another participant to his girlfriend after the robbery was completed and when Clabon Berniard was no longer present? (Assignment of Error 2)

- 3. Washington's Privacy Act prohibits the recording of private conversations unless all parties consent. Here, a KOMO TV news reporter and camera operator went to Clabon Berniard's home uninvited, held the camera down towards the floor while they recorded the moment Berniard's mother was informed that Clabon was wanted for murder, and continued to record, without asking permission, as she and Berniard's sister discussed an incriminating conversation between Clabon and another sibling. Therefore, did the trial court err in denying Clabon Berniard's motion to suppress the video recording that was obtained surreptitiously and without Berniard's mother's sister's permission? or (Assignment of Error 3)
- 4. Did the prejudicial impact of the evidentiary errors,

- individually or cumulatively, deny Clabon Berniard a fair trial? (Assignment of Error 4)
- 5. "Deliberate cruelty" is gratuitous violence inflicted as an end in itself, and which goes beyond what is inherent in the elements of the crime or is normally associated with the commission of the crime. The State argued that Clabon Berniard used "deliberate cruelty" when he assaulted and robbed Charlene Sanders by holding a gun to her head and threatening to kill her if she did not provide the combination to her safe. The State also argued that Berniard used "deliberate cruelty" when he assaulted and robbed JS by pointing a gun at him and later hitting him with a gun. Therefore, did the State present insufficient evidence as a matter of law to prove the "deliberate cruelty" aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt, where the State's evidence showed this violence was for purposes of effectuating the crimes—not an end in itself—and where the State presented no evidence whatsoever of violence "normally associated with" the charged crimes? (Assignments of Error 5 & 6)
- 6. A "high degree of sophistication or planning" means conduct

that goes beyond what is inherent in the elements of the crime or is normally associated with the commission of the crime. It also requires that the high degree of sophistication or planning be demonstrated by the defendant, rather than by somebody else involved in the crime. Therefore, did the State present insufficient evidence that Clabon Berniard engaged in a high degree of "sophistication or planning" in the commission of the crimes where the State argued that Berniard was guilty of this aggravating factor because the "group" of four people planned and executed a home-invasion robbery, but the State did not present evidence that Berniard planned the crimes and did not present evidence of the level of planning or sophistication "normally associated" with the crimes? (Assignments of Error 5 & 7)

7. A statute is void for vagueness under the Due Process
Clause if it either (a) does not define the offense with
sufficient definiteness such that ordinary people can
understand what conduct is prohibited, or (b) does not
provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against
arbitrary enforcement. Therefore, are the aggravating
factors unconstitutionally vague as applied because they

- allowed for the exercise of standardless discretion where the jury found Clabon Berniard guilty of aggravating factors based on conduct "not normally associated with the crimes," without being told what conduct is normally associated with the crimes? (Assignments of Error 5 & 8)
- 8. Under case law, the WPICs, and the Fourteenth Amendment a jury must be told it can answer "no" to the question of whether the State proved an aggravating factor or enhancement, not that the only verdict it can return is "yes." Therefore, did the firearm enhancement instructions and verdict forms violate Clabon Berniard's right to due process, where the instruction and special verdict forms instructed the jury it could either return a "yes" verdict or not return any verdict but there was no option to find Berniard not guilty of the aggravators and enhancements? (Assignment of Error 9)
- 9. Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution prohibits a judge from conveying to the jury his or her personal attitudes concerning the merits of the case. Therefore, did the concluding instruction and special verdict forms, which allowed for a "yes" answer but not a "no"

answer, violate this provision? (Assignment of Error 9)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Clabon Berniard, Kyoshi Higashi, Amanda Knight and Joshua Reese each with one count of felony murder, two counts of robbery, two counts of assault, and one count of burglary. (CP 1-3, 4-7) The State also alleged the crimes were committed with the aggravating factors of deliberate cruelty and a high degree of sophistication and planning, and that Berniard or an accomplice were armed with a firearm. (CP 1-3, 4-7)

The trial court granted the defendants' motions to sever, and separate trials were held for each defendant. (CP 8-12) Before his trial, Berniard moved to suppress Charlene Sanders' unreliable identification of him, to suppress the KOMO TV news recording under the Privacy Act, and to suppress the statements the three other non-testifying co-defendants made to police under the Sixth Amendment. (1TRP1 69-155; 1TRP3 442-566; 1TRP4 570-695)¹

¹ The transcripts from both the first and the second trial are cited in this brief. Transcripts from the first trial held from January 21, 2011 to August 25, 2011, and labeled volumes 1 thru 15, will be referred to as "1TRP" followed by the volume number. Transcripts from the second trial held from February 12, 2015 to June 19, 2015, and labeled volumes I thru XXII, will be referred to as "2TRP" followed by the volume number. All other transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding contained therein.

The trial court denied the motions. (1TRP3 435-39; 1TRP6 857)
Berniard was convicted as charged, and the court imposed an exceptional sentence on September 9, 2011. (CP 15-27)

Berniard appealed (CP 66-67), and claimed a number of errors, specifically:

that the trial court (1) violated his right to a jury trial by dismissing a juror during deliberations; (2) violated his confrontation clause rights by admitting police testimony concerning statements made by his codefendants; (3) violated his rights under article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution by admitting Charlene's identification from a news broadcast; (4) erred under the Privacy Act, chapter 9.73 RCW, in admitting a recording of a journalist's interview with Berniard's family members; and (5) violated the prohibition against double jeopardy by entering convictions for all of the crimes where the proof of some of the charges required proof of certain others. Berniard also appeals from the exceptional sentence imposed, arguing that the trial court erred in (1) applying the aggravating factors; (2) not permitting the jury to answer "no" on the special verdict forms; and (3) refusing to consider some of the offenses as the same criminal conduct in calculating his offender score.

(As stated in <u>State v. Berniard</u>, 182 Wn. App. 106, 110, 327 P.3d 1290 (2014)). This Court issued its opinion in Berniard's first appeal on June 24, 2014, stating: "Because the trial court violated Berniard's confrontation and jury trial rights, we reverse and remand for further proceedings. We therefore find it unnecessary

to reach Berniard's double jeopardy, Privacy Act, and eyewitness identification claims, as well as his challenges to the sentence imposed." (See <u>Berniard</u>, 182 Wn. App. at 110) The Mandate was issued on August 12, 2014. (CP 68-69)

On retrial, the State apparently addressed or attempted to correct a number of the errors identified by defense counsel in the first appeal. Specifically, the State filed an amended information changing the victim of the robbery charged in count 2 from James Sanders to JS²; the State specified four different acts upon which it would rely to support each count of robbery and assault³, and the State did not offer the statements of the non-testifying codefendants. (CP 8-12, 66-67, 71-72, 221-25; 2TRP20 1940-43)

Berniard again moved to suppress the KOMO TV video and Charlene Sanders' identification of him, and brought new motions to suppress cellphone records and statements Higashi made to his

.

² The State originally listed James Sanders as the victim of the felony murder charge, with robbery as the underlying felony, and also listed James Sanders as the victim of the robbery charged in count 2. (CP 4-7

³ During closing statements, the prosecutor told the jury that the assaults were committed by pointing a firearm at Charlene Sanders and at JS, and that the robberies were committed by threatening or using actual violence against Charlene and JS. (2RP20 1941-43) The jury instructions also specified that for the assaults the jury must find that Bernaird or an accomplice intentionally assaulted Charlene Sanders and JS with a firearm, and that it must find that Berniard or an accomplice "used or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury" to Charlene and JS for the robberies. (CP 66-67, 71-72)

girlfriend just after the incident. (2TRP6 85-139; 2TRP7 153-64, 168-201, 2TRP10 452-67; 2TRP11 644-77, 684, 701-35; CP 96-111, 133-35, 186-90, 209-20) The trial court denied all of Berniard's motions. (2TRP6 96, 110; 2TRP7 164-65, 202; 2TRP8 228; 2TRP11 734-35)

The jury found Berniard guilty of all six of the substantive charges, and found that he was armed with a firearm during commission of the offenses. (2TRP21 2010-11; CP 291-302) The jury found that the alleged aggravating factors did not apply to the felony murder charge, but found that one or both of the alleged aggravators applied to each of the remaining charges. (2TRP21 2012-14; CP 303-08) The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence totaling 1,172 months of confinement. (CP 341-45, 328, 331; 2TRP22 2063-64, 2071) This appeal follows. (CP 351)

B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

James and Charlene Sanders lived in Edgewood with their sons, JS and CK. (2TRP9 415, 417) On the night of April 28, 2010, a man and woman came to the home posing as potential buyers of a ring the Sanders had advertised on the web site "Craigslist." (2TRP9 417, 419-20) After looking at the ring, the man pulled out a gun, forced James and Charlene to lay face-down

on the kitchen floor, and tied each of their hands together with zipties.⁴ (2TRP9 425, 426, 428) Two other men who were wearing bandanas over their faces then entered the home, went upstairs, and brought JS and CK downstairs at gunpoint. (2TRP9 335-36, 337, 339, 430, 432; 2TRP11 749-50)

The intruders began ransacking the home. At one point, the larger of the two masked men began screaming at Charlene and demanding to know the combination to their safe. (2TRP9 343, 345, 401, 433; 2TRP12 825) The man kicked her in the face, held a gun to her head, and told her he would kill her or her children if she did not give him the information. (2TRP11 754-55; 2TRP12 828) He then pointed the gun at her head and began counting down from three. (2TRP11 754; 2TRP12 828) Charlene believed the man would shoot her when he finished counting. (2TRP12 828)

When James said he would show them the safe, the first man who had come to the house pulled James up from the floor and began walking him out of the kitchen. (2TRP11 755-56, 757; 2TRP12 829, 832) At the same time, JS stood up and jumped on the larger masked man who had threatened Charlene. (2TRP9

⁴ A number of parties in this case share a last name. To avoid confusion, they will be referred to by their first names in this brief.

346-47; 2TRP12 833-84) That man turned and hit JS on the head with his gun. (2TRP11 75757-58; 2TRP12 833-84) A second scuffle ensued between James and the first man who had come to the house, and that man shot and killed James. (2TRP11 756-57; 2TRP12 835, 838) The intruders then fled with several items taken from the home, and Charlene called the police. (2TRP9 348-49; 2TRP12 839-40, 843, 847, 849-50, 851-54, 858)

Charlene and her children described the first two intruders in detail to the police and to a sketch artist, but they could not describe the third and fourth intruders who arrived with their faces covered. (2TRP9 295; 2TRP11 768-69, 777-78, 788-89; 2TRP12 916-17, 933-34, 970-71; 2TRP14 1277, 1280, 1283) But they were eventually able to identify the first intruders, Amanda Knight and Kyoshi Higashi, and police shortly thereafter apprehended Knight, Higashi, and a third suspect, Joshua Reese, after the three fled to California. (2TRP12 897, 898-99; 2TRP13 1170, 1175, 1176; 2TRP14 1315-16, 1324-25)

Further investigation led police to believe that Clabon Berniard was the fourth suspect in the crime, which had become known as the "Craigslist killing." (CP 72) The police issued a press release, and a KOMO TV news team tracked down Berniard's

mother while she was in her home in her pajamas and informed her, while surreptitiously filming her, that her son was wanted for murder. (1TRP2 302-56; 1TRP3 360-81; CP 72; Exh. P288). As she wailed in disbelief, her daughter told her she had overheard an incriminating conversation between Berniard and another sister. (Exh. P286; 2TRP15 1418-19, 1462)

A few days later, during a news story about the case, a local television station showed an interview done a few months earlier with Berniard after he rescued someone from a burning building. (2TRP9 385-86; 2TRP12 867; 2TRP14 1377) Even though Charlene could not describe a fourth intruder and never mentioned to police that his voice was at all distinctive, when she heard Berniard on television she was certain that was the voice of the fourth intruder. (2TRP9 311; 2TRP12 867, 868, 942-43, 970-71) She turned and looked at Berniard on the television and was sure that she recognized his face as well. (2TRP12 868)

At trial, the State presented evidence showing that Higashi and Knight sold or pawned several items belonging to the Sanders in Lakewood, Washington and in San Francisco, California. (2TRP14 1267, 1357, 1362, 1367; 2TRP16 1624-25, 1628) The State also presented evidence that a firearm Higashi sold to a

collector in Lakewood the day after the robbery was the same firearm that fired the bullets and matched the casings collected from the Sanders' home and during James' autopsy. (2TRP10 577, 621, 626-27; 2TRP13 1148, 1151, 1152-53, 1160-61; 2TRP14 1319-20; 2TRP16 1620)

Jenna Ford was Higashi's girlfriend at the time, and lived in Renton. (2TRP12 1-22, 1024) Ford testified that Higashi was with Knight on the afternoon of April 28, 2010. (2TRP12 1029-30) When Higashi came back to her house around 11:00 or 11:30 PM, he seemed distraught. (2TRP12 1034) He told Ford that he did a bad thing and that he is a monster. (2TRP12 1034) Higashi proceeded to tell Ford what happened at the Sanders home, and told her that Knight, Reese and a man called "YG" were involved. (2TRP12 1036-40) Higashi called Knight and Reese, who returned in Knight's car a short time later. (2TRP12 1041) Ford never saw "YG." (2TRP12 1045)

Higashi, Knight, Reese and Ford discussed what steps could be taken to avoid capture and tried to rid Knight's car of any incriminating evidence. (2TRP12 1045, 1057) Ford testified that she saw zip-ties and two firearms in Knight's car. (2TRP12 1058, 1061) During an eventual search of Ford's home, police found

several items belonging to the Sanders family. (2TRP16 1636-38, 2TRP17 1693-94)

Several witnesses testified that Berniard goes by the nickname "YG," and that his cellular telephone number is 504-272-9688. (2TRP14 1414, 1473-74; 2TRP16 1544, 1551) The State presented records associated with that number and with the cellular telephones of Higashi and Knight. (Exhs. P160-P163, P308-P310A; 2TRP16 1539-41; 2TRP17 1708-12) The records showed a number of calls placed among Higashi, Knight and the 504-272-9688 number in the hours before and after the incident at the Sanders home. (Exh. P160, P161, P162, P163; Exhs. P160-P163, P308-P310A)

The records also showed that, before the incident, calls to and from these phones connected first through cellphone towers in South King County, then through towers in Pierce County, then a tower in Edgewood near the Sanders home. After the incident, calls were connected through cellphone towers leading away from Edgewood and into King County. (2TRP17 1747-53, 1756-70, 1776-78, 1783, 1787; Exhs. P160-63; P296-310A) The cellphone records, as well as the caller ID list located on the Sanders' home telephone display, also showed several calls between Higashi's

cellular phone and the Sanders' home in the hours leading up to the incident. (2TRP 12 855-57; 2TRP17 1747-51; Exhs. P160-63)

Additional relevant facts are set forth in the argument sections below.

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. BERNIARD DID NOT WAIVE HIS RIGHT TO CHALLENGE THE ADMISSION OF CELLPHONE RECORDS OBTAINED WITH A DEFECTIVE WARRANT AND THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE DOES NOT ALLOW THE ADMISSION OF ILLEGALLY OBTAINED EVIDENCE OUT OF "FAIRNESS" TO THE STATE.

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