**NO. 47726-2-II**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

CLABON BERNIARD, APPELLANT

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Thomas Larkin

No. 10-1-01904-1

---

**Brief of Respondent**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
Thomas C. Roberts  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

The Privacy Act “puts a high value on the privacy of communications.” *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 200, 102 P.3d 789 (2004). Generally, recordings made in violation of the Privacy Act are inadmissible in a criminal proceeding. RCW 9.73.050. A trial court’s interpretation of a statute is a question of law that appellate courts review de novo. *Christensen*, at 194. However, an appellate court will review the trial court’s ultimate decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion. *State v. DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on unreasonable or untenable grounds. *State v. Rafay*, 167 Wn.2d 644, 655, 222 P.3d 86 (2009).

In reviewing a motion to suppress evidence, the appellate court examines whether substantial evidence supports the findings and whether the findings support the trial court’s conclusions of law. See *State v. Kipp*, 171 Wn. App. 14, 25, 286 P. 3d 68 (2012).

The Privacy Act under RCW 9.73.030 applies only to private conversations or communications. *State v. Clark*, 129 Wn.2d 211, 224, 916 P.2d 384 (1996). RCW 9.73.030 states in the relevant part:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, it shall be unlawful for any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or the state of Washington, its agencies, and political subdivisions to intercept, or record any:

(b) Private conversations, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation regardless how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.

When a conversation is not private, the act does not apply. *See State v. D.J.W.*, 76 Wn. App. 135, 140, 882 P.2d 1999 (1994). *Clark* and *D.J.W.* both analyzed the factual circumstances of a conversation in the application of the privacy statute. Both cases held that conversations between drug dealers on a public street, where any passerby could overhear the conversation, were not "private communications." *Clark*, 129 Wn.2d at 224; *D.J.W.*, 76 Wn. App. at 141. *Clark* also found the presence of a third party to be a significant factor in determining whether the conversation was expected to be private, because the third person(s) could reveal what transpired to others. *Clark*, at 226.

The first step in determining whether the Privacy Act applies to a particular recorded conversation is to determine if the conversation was "private." The statute does not define the term "private conversation," but

appellate courts have given the term its ordinary and usual meaning:

Belonging to one's self...secret...intended only for the persons involved (a conversation)... holding a confidential relationship to something... a secret message: a private communication ... secretly: not open or in public.

*State v. Forrester*, 21 Wn. App. 855, 861, 587 P.2d 179 (1978) (some alterations in original) (quoting Webster's Third International Dictionary (1969)), *cited by State v. Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d 666, 673, 57 P. 3d 255 (2002).

A communication is private (1) when parties manifest a subjective intention that it be private and (2) where that expectation is reasonable.

*Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d at 673; *see also State v. Roden*, 169 Wn. App. 59, 64, 279 P. 3d 461 (2012); *rev'd on other grounds* 179 Wn. 2d 893, 673-674 (2014). The courts look at several factors to determine a person's subjective intent including the duration and subject matter of the communication; the location of the communication and the potential presence of third parties; and the role of the nonconsenting party and his or her relationship to the consenting party. *Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d at 673; *Clark*, 129 Wn.2d at 226-27. Determination of these factors is largely a question of fact for the trial court. *Roden*, 169 Wn. App. at 64.

In *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 102 P.3d 789 (2004), a mother used the speakerphone function of the family's cordless telephone system to surreptitiously listen to a conversation between her daughter and

her daughter's boyfriend, Christiansen, in which a crime was discussed. Over objection, the mother testified against Christiansen at his trial based on what she had overheard. The Supreme Court found that the conversation was private because Christiansen manifested his desire for a private conversation by asking to speak with his girlfriend when he called the house. The girlfriend manifested her desire to have a private conversation with Christiansen by taking the cordless phone to her room and shutting the door. *Id.*, at 193. Under these circumstances, the court found that the parties' expectation that their telephone conversation would be private was reasonable. *Id.*

In *Townsend, supra*, the defendant set email messages to "Amber," a police officer posing as an underage girl. The Court found that such a "conversation" would ordinarily be private because the subject matter, which was sexual in nature, was private and Townsend manifested his subjective intent that the emails be kept private by asking Amber to keep 'us' a secret. 147 Wn.2d 674. However, despite finding the communications were ordinarily private, the Court found no Privacy Act violation because Townsend implicitly consented to the recording of his emails by using a computer, which must record an email communication. 147 Wn. 2d at 676, 678.

Similarly, in *Roden, supra*, the "recording device" was a cellular telephone. Police had acquired the phone from a drug dealer, Mr. Lee. Roden had sent a text message to Lee's cell phone. Police arranged to meet

Roden, purportedly to sell him drugs. He was subsequently prosecuted.  
179 Wn. 2d at 897.

In *Kadoranian v. Bellingham Police Department*, 119 Wn.2d 178, 829 P.2d 1061 (1992), the Supreme Court refused to find a Privacy Act violation when a police informant inadvertently recorded a telephone conversation the informant had with a drug dealer's daughter, Alice Kadoranian, who answered the phone when the informant called. Alice Kadoranian's conversation took place in her residence, but was not a private communication because she freely gave out information that her father was not home to a third party, did not seem to care who received that information. The court found that there was no evidence that Ms. Kadoranian intended to keep the information she shared over the telephone a secret and that she did not have a reasonable expectation that her conversation was private. Because Alice Kadoranian's conversation was not private, the court found there was no Privacy Act violation. *Kadoranian*, 119 Wn.2d at 190.

As the holding in *Kadoranian* suggests, not all communications that occur in a residence are private. By analogy, where a person opens his home to outsiders for a transaction, such a transaction is not private, even when the transaction takes place in a private home. See *State v. Hastings*, 119 Wn.2d 229, 233, 830 P.2d 658 (1992). There, undercover officers entered the defendant's home to purchase drugs. The circumstances made it clear that Hastings' dealings, although in his home,



were not private because he had invited other persons inside, knowing their intentions. *Id.*, at 232.

Here, the Berniards admitted the KOMO news crew into their home. They knew that it was a news crew covering the story of the Edgewood home invasion robbery/murder and the defendant's involvement in it. This was in no way a "private conversation".

b. The Berniards implicitly consented to recording of the communication.

Even if the Berniards' interview with Sabra Gertsch and the KOMO news team was a private communication, the Berniards consented to the recording of the interview. The Privacy Act requires that all parties consent before a private conversation is recorded. RCW 9.73.030(1). However, when the recording is made by an employee of a regularly published newspaper or television station acting in the course of news gathering, the subject of the recorded conversation is deemed to have consented when the recording device is readily apparent or obvious to the speaker. RCW 9.76.030(4). A violation of the Privacy Act subjects the person recording the conversation to both criminal and civil liability under RCW 9.73.050 and .080.

In this case, the Berniards admitted a KOMO TV news team into their home. The reporter and cameraman identified themselves as news gatherers. As the trial judge concluded, it was obvious that the news team

was there to share whatever statements were made with the public. 5 RP

96. The Berniards consented to the recording.

4. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN APPLYING THE AGGRAVATING SENTENCING FACTORS FOUND BY THE JURY.

a. Deliberate cruelty.

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a). “Deliberate cruelty is gratuitous violence or other conduct that inflicts physical, psychological, or emotional pain as an end in itself.” *State v. Jennings*, 106 Wn. App. 532, 550, 24 P. 3d 430 (2001). Deliberate cruelty has been defined as behavior “not usually associated with the commission of the offense in question,” or as “gratuitous violence or other conduct which inflicts physical, psychological, or emotional pain as an end in itself.” *State v. Ferguson*, 142 Wn. 2d 631, 645, 15 P. 3d 1271 (2001)(additional internal cites omitted).

Here, the defendant kicked Mrs. Sanders in the head as she lay on the floor with her hands tied behind her. He pistol-whipped J.S. These acts go beyond the force necessary to accomplish a robbery. These actions were gratuitous violence to inflict both physical and psychological pain. It was deliberate cruelty.

b. Sophistication and planning.

A sentencing aggravating factor must be based upon the defendant’s own actions. See *State v. Hayes*, 182 Wn. 2d 556, 342 P. 3d

1144 (2015); *State v. Weller*, 185 Wn. App. 913, 344 P. 3d 695 (2015). Here, the State alleged that the “sophistication and planning” sentencing aggravator under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(m). The verdict forms demonstrate that the jury did find that the defendant, as distinct from an accomplice, used a “high degree of sophistication or planning”. CP 304.

The defendant argues that there was no evidence that he was the planner of these crimes. App. Brf., at 58. Where more than one person participates in a crime, it is not necessary to assign roles or to characterize particular participants. In *State v. DeLeon*, 185 Wn. App. 171, 341 P. 3d 315 (2014), the defendant and two fellow gang members were charged with assault in the first degree for shooting at rival gang members. The State alleged the gang sentencing aggravator under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(aa) for the defendant and his two codefendants. The Court of Appeals opinion did not examine the roles of the defendants; which of the defendants was the driver, which the shooter, etc. It applied the sentencing analysis to each defendant equally.

The appellate court reviews the jury's special interrogatories under a sufficiency of the evidence standard. *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 752, 168 P.3d 359 (2007). Evidence is sufficient to prove the aggravating circumstance if after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational jury could find the facts to support an aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 9.94A.537(3); *Yates*, 161 Wn.2d at 752. A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the

truth of the State's evidence and any inferences the jury may reasonably draw from it. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). The Court defers to the trier of fact on “issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence.” *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874–75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

Here, the defendant and four others picked the Sanders’ home to invade from a Craigslist posting. The four coordinated when and where to arrive, maintaining contact through their cell phones. There was a division of roles and a plan of attack. In that plan, Higashi and Knight posed as buyers of the ring. They used a planned cue to call in the defendant and Reese, who were masked and immediately proceeded upstairs to round up other victims. The plan of attack was coordinated by the use of their cell phones. The defendant and Amanda Knight used anonymous prepaid cell phones in order to escape detection. By challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to find the aggravating circumstance, the defendant admits all of this is true, and all reasonable inferences from the evidence.

From this evidence, the jurors could, and did, conclude that the defendant was one of four who participated in a well-planned and executed home-invasion robbery. The statute does not require, nor the State need to prove, that the defendant was the only planner; but that “The offense involved a high degree of sophistication or planning.” It was for the jurors to decide in fact whether these actions amounted to a “high degree”.

c. Vagueness challenge.

In *State v. Baldwin*, 150 Wn.2d 448, 459, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003), the Washington Supreme Court held, “[D]ue process considerations that underlie the void-for-vagueness doctrine have no application in the context of sentencing guidelines.” The Court stated the sentencing guideline statutes do not define conduct, permit arbitrary arrest and criminal prosecution, inform the public of penalties attached to criminal conduct, vary the statutory maximum or minimum penalties that the legislature assigned to illegal conduct, or set penalties. *Baldwin*, 150 Wn.2d at 459.

More recently, in *State v. Chanthabouly*, 164 Wn. App. 104, 141-142, 262 P. 3d 144 (2011), the defendant challenged the “destructive and foreseeable impact” aggravating circumstance under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(r) as unconstitutionally vague. This Court, citing *Baldwin*, held that the defendant was precluded from challenging the sentence aggravator statute as vague.

This case is controlled by *Baldwin*. The defendant cannot challenge the sentence aggravators as unconstitutionally vague.

5. THE SPECIAL VERDICT INSTRUCTION AND FORMS WERE CORRECTLY WORDED.
  - a. The defendant failed to preserve this issue for review.

If a defendant fails to object to a jury instruction or verdict form regarding a special verdict, his objection is waived for appeal. *See State v. Nunez*, 160 Wn. App. 150, 248 P. 3d 103 (2011); *rev'd on other grounds*, 174 Wn. 2d 707, 285 P. 3d 21 (2012). Here, the defendant was most concerned with the instruction regarding “deliberate cruelty” as applied to an accomplice. 18 RP 1797-1798. He also wanted a missing witness instruction. 18 RP 1800. The defendant only proposed two instructions. CP 227, 228. Other than this, he did not object to the State’s proposed instructions or the wording of the verdict forms. Therefore, he has not preserved this issue for appeal.

- b. The wording of the special verdict form was correct.

Even if he had preserved the issue, the wording was correct under *Nunez*. *Nunez* settled the issue raised in *State v. Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d 133, 234 P.3d 195 (2010) regarding the wording of special verdict forms to find aggravating circumstances. The jury only needs to be unanimous to find the aggravating circumstance. 174 Wn. 2d at 718. If they cannot agree, or they are unanimous that the answer is “no”, the result is the same: the

answer is no. In *Nunez*, the Court endorsed the instruction from *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn. 2d 136, 174, 892 P. 2d 29 (1995), namely:

If, after fully and fairly considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence you are not able to reach a unanimous decision as to any element of any one of the aggravating circumstances, do not fill in the blank for that alternative.

*See Nunez*, at 719.

Here, the firearm special verdict forms reflected the approved language in *Nunez*. *See, e.g.* CP 297. The sentence aggravator special verdict forms asked yes or no. There was also a space to indicate that the form was intentionally left blank. *See, e.g.* CP 303. The defendant did not object to these instructions and forms, and there was no error.

6. CUMULATIVE ERROR DID NOT DEPRIVE THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL.

The doctrine of cumulative error recognizes the reality that sometimes numerous errors, each of which standing alone might have been harmless error, can combine to deny a defendant not only a perfect trial, but also a fair trial. *In re Lord*, 123 Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835 (1994); *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 681 P.2d 1281 (1984); *see also State v. Johnson*, 90 Wn. App. 54, 74, 950 P.2d 981, 991 (1998) (“although none of the errors discussed above alone mandate reversal...”). The analysis is intertwined with the harmless error doctrine, in that the

type of error will affect the court's weighing those errors. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93-94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).